
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. __________________

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado corporation, and
JULIE REISKIN, and
JAIME LEWIS

Plaintiffs,

v.

B &T ENTERPRISES, LLC, d/b/a MIZUPPA, a Colorado Corporation,

Defendant.
                                                                                                                                                      

COMPLAINT
                                                                                                                                                       

Plaintiffs Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”), Julie Reiskin, and Jaime

Lewis, by and through their attorneys, Kevin W. Williams and Fox & Robertson, P.C., hereby

brings this Complaint against B&T Enterprises, LLC (“B&T”), for violations of the Americans

with Disabilities Act and the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act.

INTRODUCTION

1. Over fifteen years after the passage of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42

U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. (“ADA”), Defendant opened a new restaurant, MiZuppa, that has no

meaningful accessible seating for people who use wheelchairs.  Defendant completely gutted and

renovated the existing building.

2. The seating section of the MiZuppa Restaurant used by the general public is on a

raised platform that does not have a ramp or any other access for people who use wheelchairs.

3. CCDC asked Defendant voluntarily to make its raised seating area accessible to

persons who use wheelchairs, but Defendant refused.
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4. As a result, there is only one table in Defendant’s restaurant that a person who

uses a wheelchair can get to, and this table is completely segregated from the rest of the seating. 

A person sitting at this table does not receive the same service or enjoy the same decor as those

sitting in the raised seating area.

5. In passing the ADA, Congress found: “[I]ndividuals with disabilities continually

encounter various forms of discrimination, including outright intentional exclusion, the

discriminatory effects of architectural, . . . barriers, . . . failure to make modifications to existing

facilities, . . .  segregation, and relegation to lesser services, programs, activities, benefits . . . or

other opportunities.  42 U.S.C. § 12101(a)(5).

6. Defendant has perpetuated discrimination against individuals who use

wheelchairs by constructing its primary seating area in a manner that makes the area inaccessible

to people who use wheelchairs. 

JURISDICTION

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1331 and 1343 and pursuant to its pendent jurisdiction over claims brought under the laws of

the State of Colorado.

8. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

PARTIES

9. Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”) is a Colorado non-profit

corporation whose members are persons with disabilities and their nondisabled allies.

10. Plaintiff Julie Reiskin is a member of CCDC and is substantially limited in

several major life activities, including walking.  Ms. Reiskin requires the use of a motorized
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wheelchair for mobility.

11. Plaintiff Jaime Lewis is a CCDC member and is substantially limited in several

major life activities, including walking.  Mr. Lewis requires the use of a manual wheelchair for

mobility.

12. Defendant B&T enterprises, LLC (“B&T”) is a Colorado corporation with its

principal place of business at 6119 South Jamaica Court, Englewood, CO 80111.  Defendant

owns, operates, leases or leases to others a restaurant known as MiZuppa (“MiZuppa

Restaurant”), located at 1717 Stout Street, Denver, Colorado, 80202. 

13. CCDC members have experienced barriers to accessibility at the MiZuppa

Restaurant, including, but not limited to:

a. the inability to access the seating section;

b. segregated seating;

c. seating that has been rendered inaccessible;

d. seating that is in front of an open door when it is cold;

e. inferior services and different decor than that afforded nondisabled patrons; and

14. The primary seating area at MiZuppa Restaurant is raised.  The only method of

accessing this area is via stairs.  There is no ramp, and thus this area is inaccessible to people

who use wheelchairs.

15. On information and belief,  B&T built the entire interior of the restaurant and

added the raised seating area after January 26, 1993.

16. The MiZuppa Restaurant has one table that is not up stairs, but this table was

located in a corner between a cooler, a trash can and the main entrance door.  It is separated from
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the dining area by a wall.

17. On at least one occasion, employees were using the segregated table for work

space, making it unusable for customers who use wheelchairs while the restaurant was open for

business.

18. In or about September of 2005, Plaintiff Lewis attempted to dine at the MiZuppa

Restaurant.  After he ordered his food, he discovered that there was a raised seating area

accessible only by stairs.  He intended to sit at the segregated table, but there was a long line of

customers out the door, blocking access to the table.  Mr. Lewis did not want to sit at a table

surrounded by standing people and was unable to dine in the restaurant.

19. On or about January 5, 2006, Plaintiff Reiskin attempted to dine at the MiZuppa

Restaurant.  She went through the line to the drink dispenser and had difficulty reaching many of

the items she needed for her beverage.  After getting her order, Ms. Reiskin looked for a place to

sit and eat.  She saw the raised seating area where others were seated but noticed there were

stairs and no ramp.  She could not sit in the seating area with others.  She noticed one table

separate from all of the others that was not up stairs.  It was located directly in front of the

outside door. She carried her food to that table.  She sat there briefly.  Everyone coming in the

door stared at her as they passed by, which made her uncomfortable.  Every time another

customer entered, the cold air was unbearable.  Because of her discomfort, Ms. Reiskin left

without finishing her lunch.

20. On or about January 6, 2006, Plaintiff Lewis attempted to dine at the MiZuppa

Restaurant.  He ordered food and searched for a table again.  He noticed the raised seating area

and that it was still not accessible to him.  He then saw the segregated table.  He wanted to dine
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at MiZuppa.  He sat at the table, subject to cold air coming in when the door was opened.  He

was segregated from the rest of the customers.  He felt like he was sitting in a corner by himself.

21. On or about January 24, 2006, Plaintiff Reiskin attempted to eat at the MiZuppa

Restaurant.  Ms. Reiskin ordered her food to dine in.  She again noticed the raised seating area

that was inaccessible to her and the segregated table in front of the door.  The segregated table

had a line of people waiting to order food standing around it.  Having no other choice, Ms.

Reiskin intended to sit there.  The restaurant was very crowded.  Two women who did not use

wheelchairs sat down at the segregated table.  Since there was no where for Ms. Reiskin to sit,

she asked the employees to wrap her food for carry out.  She had to maneuver back through the

crowd to do this, which was difficult.  Ms. Reiskin went to use the restroom while she was

waiting.  MiZuppa Restaurant employees removed the two women sitting at the segregated table

and made them move to the bar, which is not accessible, to make room for Ms. Reiskin.  Ms.

Reiskin felt like a spectacle for all those standing in line to watch.  Every time a customer

entered, the cold air from outside was too much to bear.  Ms. Reiskin was surrounded by people

waiting in line while trying to eat and get some work done.  Ms. Reiskin would have preferred to

sit at the bar, which is not accessible.  Ms. Reiskin wanted to get condiments for her lunch, but,

because of the location of the table, she would have had to cross through the long line of people

waiting in line to get to the condiments and decided it would be too much effort until the line

abated.  Every time the outside door opened to let another customer in, it was too cold for Ms.

Reiskin to sit there.  She left without finishing her lunch.

22. On another occasion, the segregated table was blocked by free-standing signs and

covered with papers.
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23. Prior to filing this lawsuit, CCDC asked Defendant voluntarily to make its raised

seating area accessible to persons who use wheelchairs, but Defendant refused.

24. On information and belief, the maneuvering clearances at the interior door in the

MiZuppa Restaurant are insufficient to provide access to individuals who use wheelchairs.

25. On information and belief, other barriers to accessibility for individuals who use

wheelchairs exist at the MiZuppa Restaurant.

26. CCDC’s purpose is to work for systemic change that promotes independence,

self-reliance, and full inclusion for people with disabilities in the entire community.  As part of

that purpose, CCDC seeks to ensure that persons with disabilities have access to -- and do not

encounter discrimination in -- public accommodations such as the MiZuppa Restaurant. 

27. CCDC’s members include individuals with disabilities and their friends, relatives

and allies who would like to dine at the MiZuppa Restaurant if the discrimination described

herein is eliminated. 

28. CCDC’s members have been injured and will continue to be injured by

Defendant’s discrimination described above.

29. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of Defendant, and the integration

of persons with disabilities into the community are at the core of CCDC’s organizational

purpose.

30. The participation of individual CCDC members in the lawsuit is not required

either to resolve the claims at issue or to formulate relief. 

31. Plaintiffs Reiskin and Lewis and other CCDC members who use wheelchairs

would like to dine at the MiZuppa Restaurant if the discriminatory conditions are eliminated.
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32. Plaintiff Reiskin has been injured and will continue to be injured by Defendant’s

discrimination described above.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act)

33. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations

set forth in this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

34. B&T owns, operates, leases or leases to others the MiZuppa Restaurant and is

therefore a place of public accommodation as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(B).

35. Defendant has discriminated against Plaintiffs on the basis of disability. 

Defendant’s discriminatory conduct includes but is not limited to:

a. Discriminatory exclusion from and/or denial of goods, services, facilities,

privileges, advantages, accommodations, and/or opportunities; 

b. Provision of goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, and/or

accommodations that are not equal to those afforded non-disabled individuals; 

c. Failing to provide the same services and decor in an accessible space usable by

the general public that is not restricted to use by people with disabilities;

d. Failing to make alterations in such a manner that, to the maximum extent feasible,

the altered portions of the MiZuppa Restaurant are readily accessible to and

usable by individuals with disabilities, including individuals who use wheelchairs.

e. Failing to alter the floor of the MiZuppa Restaurant so that it complies with the

Americans with Disabilities Act Standards for Accessible Design, 28 C.F.R., pt

36, app. A.
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f. Failure to make the path of travel to an alteration that affects the usability of or

access to an area of the MiZuppa Restaurant that contains a primary function -- its

dining area -- readily accessible to and usable by individuals who use

wheelchairs.

36. As such, Defendant discriminates and, in the absence of the injunction requested

herein, will continue in the future to discriminate against Plaintiffs on the basis of disability in

the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages,

accommodations and/or opportunities of its MiZuppa Restaurant in violation of Title III of the

Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12181, et seq., and its implementing regulations.

37. Plaintiffs have been damaged and will continue to be damaged by this

discrimination. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violations of the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act)

38. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations previously set forth

above as if fully set forth herein.

39. The Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act prohibits any public facility of any kind

from denying an individual or a group on the basis of disability equal enjoyment of its goods,

services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations.  Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601.

40. Defendant -- in its ownership and operation of the MiZuppa Restaurant -- is a

place of public accommodation as that term is defined in Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601(1). 

41. The Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act is to be construed consistently with the

ADA and other federal civil rights statutes.  3 Colo. Code. Reg. 708.60.1(c).

42. Defendant has violated the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act by denying persons
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who use wheelchairs the benefits of the MiZuppa Restaurant through, without limitation, failing

to make the elevated seating section accessible to people who use wheelchairs and failing to

make alterations so that the MiZuppa Restaurant is readily accessible to and usable to

individuals who use wheelchairs.

43. Under the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act, for every offense committed by the

Defendant, it shall forfeit and pay a sum of not less than fifty dollars nor more than five hundred

dollars to the persons aggrieved thereby.  Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-602.

44. Defendant’s violations of the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act have harmed

Plaintiffs and CCDC’s members who have attempted to dine there.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray:

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction;

2. That this Court issue an order declaring the Defendant to be in violation of the

Americans with Disabilities Act and the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act;

3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering the Defendant to bring the MiZuppa

Restaurant into compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act and Colorado Anti-

Discrimination Act;

4. That this Court award Plaintiffs and CCDC members who have attempted to dine

at the MiZuppa Restaurant each five hundred dollars per day since September 16, 2005, when

Defendant was made aware of its offenses;

5. That this Court award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and

6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper
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and equitable.

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Kevin W. Williams
Kevin W. Williams
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition
Legal Program Director
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO  80203
Voice: 303.839.1775
TTY: 303.839.0015
Facsimile: 303.839.1782
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org

Timothy P. Fox
Amy F. Robertson
Fox & Robertson, P.C.
910 - 16th Street, Suite 610
Denver, CO 80202 
Telephone: 303.595.9700 
Facsimile: 303.595.9705
E-mail: tfox@foxrob.com

Dated: January 30, 2006 Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Address of Plaintiff Colorado Cross Disability Coalition:

655 Broadway
Suite 775
Denver, CO  80203

Address of Plaintiff Julie Reiskin:

3545 Milwaukee Street
Denver, CO 80205

Address of Jaime Lewis:

330 Acoma # 401
Denver, CO 80223
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